1. The Circuit Court erred as the Default Judgment, which purportedly found Skaff liable to the KCBE in tort, actually sought damages related solely to the breach of the Delegate Agreement thereby implicating the breach of contract exclusion set forth in the FFIC policy.	24
2. Alternatively, FFIC asserts that the Circuit Court erred by holding that the default judgment entered against Skaff	

collaterally estops FFIC from challenging coverage based upon the allegations set forth in the Amended and Supplemental Complaint as Skaff and FFIC were not in privity with one another. 26

E. The allegations contained in the KCBE’s Amended and Supplemental Complaint seek nothing more than damages for breach of contract which are clearly excluded by the FFIC policy. 33

F. The Circuit Court Abused its Discretion by Failing to Grant the Relief Requested in FFIC’s Motion for Relief from the November 18, 2004 Final Order and to Vacate the Same. 39

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 40

TABLE OF CASES

Supreme Court of the United States Cases:

Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574 (1986).

West Virginia Cases:

Aetna Cas. & Sure. Co. v. Pitrolo, 176 W.Va. 190, 342 S.E.2d 156 (1986).

Ara v. Erie Ins. Co., 182 W. Va. 266, 387 S.E.2d 320 (1989).

Arnold v. Knapp, 75 W.Va. 804, 84 S.E. 895 (1915).

Bowling v. Ansted Chrysler-Plymouth-Dodge, Inc., 188 W.Va. 468, 425 S.E.2d 144 (1992).

Bruceton Bank v. United States Fid. & Guar. Ins. Co., 199 W. Va. 548, 486 S.E.2d 19 (1997).

Cotton v. Otis Elevator Co., 627 F.Supp. 519, 521 (S.D.W.V. 1986).

Farm Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Thorn Lumber Co., 202 W.Va. 69, 501 S.E.2d 785 (1998).

Farmers & Mech. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Cook, 210 W. Va. 394, 557 S.E.2d 801 (2001).

Hoon v. Hyman, 87 W.Va. 659, 105 S.E. 925 (1921).

Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. Adkins, 215 W.Va. 297, 599 S.E.2d 720 (2004).

Hurricane Milling Co. V. Steel & Payne Co., 84 W.Va. 376, 99 S.E. 490 (1919).

Hustead v. Ashland Oil, Inc., 197 W.Va. 55, 475 S.E.2d 55 (1996).

Kelly v. Painter, 202 W.Va. 344, 504 S.E.2d 171 (1998).

Neil v. Flynn Lumber Co., 71 W.Va. 708, 77 S.E. 324 (1913).

Neiswonger v. Hennessey, 215 W.Va. 749, 601 S.E.2d 69 (2004).

Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

Payne v. Weston, 195 W.Va. 502, 466 S.E.2d 161, (1995).

Potesta v. USF&G Company, 202 W.Va. 308, 504 S.E.2d 135 (1998).

Poweridge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Properties, Ltd., 196 W.Va. 692, 474 S.E.2d 872 (1996).

Smith v. Animal Urgent Care, Inc., 208 W.Va. 664, 542 S.E.2d 827 (2000).

Tackett v. American Motorists Ins. Co., 213 W.Va.524, 584 S.E.2d 158 (2003).

Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

Foreign Cases, Statutes & Rules:

Alabama Farm Bureau Mut. Casualty Ins. Co. v. Moore, 349 So.2d 1113 (Ala 1977).

Alabama Hosp. Ass'n Trust v. Mut. Assurance Soc'y, 538 So.2d 1209 (Ala. 1989).

Anderson v. Virginia Surety Co. Inc., 985 F.Supp. 182 (D. Me. 1998).

Aselco, Inc. v. Hartford Ins. Group, 21 P.3d 1011 (Kan.Ct.App. 2001).

Battista v. Lebanon Trotting Ass., 538 F.2d 111 (6th Cir. 1976).

Black v. Goodwin, Loomis and Britton, Inc., 239 A.2d 293 (Conn. 1996).

Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Vance, 730 S.W.2d 521 (Ky. 1987).

Colonial Oil Industries v. Underwriters Subscribing to Policy Nos. T031504670 and TO31504671, 491 S.E.2d 337 (Ga. 1997).

Elliott v. Hanover Ins. Co., 711 A.2d 1310 (Me. 1998).

Enserch Corp. v. Shand Morahan & Co., Inc., 952 F.2d 1485 (5th Cir. 1992).

Evan v. Employers Mut. Liability Ins. Co., 391 F.Supp. 1230 (D.Ala.1975).

Farmers Ins. Co. v. Vagnozzi, 675 P.2d 703 (Az. 1983).

Ferguson v. Birmingham Fire Ins. Co., 460 P.2d 342 (Or. 1969).

Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Rairigh, 475 A.2d 509 (Md.1984).

Flannery v. Allstate Ins. Co., 49 F. Supp.2d 1223 (D. Colo. 1999).

Foreman v. Jongkind Bros., Inc., 625 N.E.2d 463 (Ind. Ct. App. 1994).

Geddes & Smith, Inc. v. St. Paul-Mercury Indem. Co., 334 P.2d 881 (Cal.1959).

Grindheim v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America, 908 F.Supp. 794 (D.Mont. 1995).

Glen Fall Ins. Co. v. American Oil Co., 254 A.2d 658 (Md. 1969).

Hirst v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 683 P.2d 440 (Idaho 1984).

Illinois Ins. Exch. v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., 679 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1996).

Insurance Co. of North American v. Whatley, 558 So.2d 120 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App. 1990).

Johnson v. Studyvin, 828 F. Supp. 877 (D. Kan. 1993).

Keller Industries, Inc. v. Employers Mut. Liability Ins. Co., 429 So. 2d 779 (Fla.App.3d Dist. 1983).

Marston v. Merchants Mut. Ins. Co., 319 A.2d 111 (Me. 1974).

Northwest Pump & Equip. Co. v. American States Ins. Co., 925 P.2d 1241 (Or.Ct.App. 1996).

Polaroid Corp. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 610 N.E.2d 912 (Mass.1993).

Ringler Associates Inc. v. Maryland Cas. Co., 96 Cal. Rptr.2d 136, 80 Cal.App.4th 1165 (2000).

Rhodes v. Chicago Ins. Co., 719 F.2d 116 (5th Cir. 1983).

Sellie v. North Dakota Ins. Guar. Assoc., 494 N.W.2d 151 (N.D. 1992).

Sentinel Ins. Co., Ltd. v. First Ins. Co. of Hawaii, Ltd., 875 P.2d 894 (Haw.1994).

Servidone Constr. Corp. v. Security Ins. Co. of Hartford, 477 N.E.2d 441 (N.Y.1985).

Signature Development Cos. v. Royal Ins. Co. of Am., 230 F.3d 1215 (10th Cir. 2000).

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Paynter, 593 P.2d 948 (Ariz.Ct.App.1979).

St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Crosetti Bros., Inc., 475 P.2d 69 (Or.1970).

Steil v. Florida Physicians' Ins. Reciprocal, 448 So. 2d 589 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1984).

Sunseri v. Camperos Del Valle Stables, Inc., 185 Cal. App. 3d 559, 230 Cal. Rptr. 23 (1st Dist. 1986).

Twin City Fire, Ins. Co. V. City of Madison, Miss., 309 F.3d 901 (5th Cir. 2002).

Western Alliance Ins. Co. v. Northern Ins. Co. of New York, 176 F.3d 825 (5th Cir. 1999).

Willaimson v. State Farm Loyds, 76 S.W.2d 64 (Tex.Ct.App.2002).

I. KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF RULING IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA

This Appeal arises from a November 18, 2004 *Final Order* entered by the Honorable James C. Stucky, Judge of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, as the result of cross motions for summary judgment filed by Fireman's Fund Insurance Company (hereinafter "FFIC") and the Board of Education of the County of Kanawha (hereinafter "KCBE") in a declaratory judgment action.¹ In the *Final Order*, the Circuit Court made several conclusions of law which FFIC believes are incorrect, contrary to West Virginia law, against the great weight of the majority of jurisdictions considering similar issues, and therefore, must be vacated, reversed and/or remanded.

The declaratory judgment portion of this civil action arises from a contractual dispute between the KCBE and Multi-cap. In January, 2000 the KCBE and Multi-cap entered into a contract, otherwise known as a Delegate Agreement, whereby the KCBE agreed to provide certain activities and services for the Head Start Program in Kanawha County for the period from June 1, 2000, through May 31, 2001. In return for running the Head Start Program, the contract required Multi-cap to reimburse the KCBE for their expenditures related to providing the services. After the KCBE fulfilled its portion of the Delegate Agreement, Multi-cap failed to reimburse it for its expenditures.

Multi-cap was insured by FFIC by a Non-Profit Organization Liability Insurance Policy, which contained various exclusions, including a breach of contract exclusion excluding coverage for damages arising from an actual or alleged breach of contract. Because of this exclusion, which would have clearly excluded coverage for any claim brought by the KCBE against Multi-cap related to the breach of the Delegate Agreement, the KCBE filed suit directly against Multi-cap's Executive

¹ The Amended and Supplemental Complaint filed in this matter also contains extra-contractual claims against FFIC which are not at issue on this appeal.

Director, Paul Skaff (hereinafter "Skaff"), thereby attempting to avoid the breach of contract exclusion. In its initial Complaint, the KCBE asserted that it was Skaff's negligence/conduct that led to Multi-cap being unable to reimburse the KCBE pursuant to its obligations under the Delegate Agreement. Thus, ultimately, the damages asserted by the KCBE arise from Multi-cap's failure to fulfill its obligations pursuant to the Delegate Agreement.

Based upon the breach of contract exclusion, FFIC denied both a defense and indemnity to Skaff. Thereafter, the KCBE obtained a default judgment against Skaff and entered into a consent judgement with him whereby Skaff assigned any claims he possessed against FFIC to the KCBE and the KCBE agreed not to execute on the judgment voluntarily entered into by Skaff. The KCBE then amended its Complaint to assert a declaratory judgment action against FFIC, asserting that FFIC breached its duty to defend and indemnify Skaff. Thus, the issues which were before the Circuit Court, and which are now present before this Court, involve whether FFIC was required to defend and indemnify Skaff.

On July 21, 2004, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment solely on the declaratory judgment portion of the civil action, arguing their respective positions as to whether or not FFIC had an obligation to defend and indemnify Skaff. FFIC took the position that while the KCBE's complaint was couched in terms of negligence, the relief requested in the Complaint was solely concerned with the monies the KCBE was owed due to Multi-cap's inability to reimburse it pursuant to the Delegate Agreement and that as the damages were caused by a breach of contract, there was no coverage for the damages claimed by the KCBE. FFIC further opined that the KCBE had likely only asserted a tort claim as a means of attempting to avoid the effect of the breach of contract exclusion. Accordingly, FFIC advocated that the Complaint filed against Skaff did not

assert a claim for any damages separate and apart from those for the breach of the Delegate Agreement, and therefore, the damages were not covered under the policy. FFIC further argued that because there was no coverage for the damages asserted by the KCBE, FFIC had no duty to defend Skaff pursuant to the terms of the policy. Alternatively, and to the extent that the Circuit Court believed FFIC had breached its duty to defend Skaff, FFIC asserted that any damages resulting from its breach of its duty to defend Skaff were outlined by this Court in Aetna Cas. & Sure. Co. v. Pitrolo, 176 W.Va. 190, 342 S.E.2d 156 (1986), and did not include FFIC being estopped from asserting or raising coverage defenses pursuant to the terms of the policy.

However, the Circuit Court disagreed with FFIC and on November 18, 2003, it adopted the positions advanced by the KCBE. The Circuit Court ultimately reached the following conclusions:

- (1) That FFIC breached its duty to defend Skaff as the breach of contract exclusion could not be relied upon by FFIC based upon the exclusionary language set forth in the FFIC policy;
- (2) That because FFIC breached its duty to defend Skaff in the underlying action, it was therefore estopped from asserting any coverage defenses pursuant to the provisions of the policy;
- (3) That FFIC was bound by the default judgment entered against Skaff, which established that Skaff was liable to the plaintiff in tort, thereby foreclosing any argument by FFIC that the breach of contract exclusion set forth in the FFIC policy should be applicable to exclude coverage; and,
- (4) That FFIC was required to pay the stipulated/confessed judgment agreed to by Skaff in the amount of \$710,947.85, plus pre and post judgment interest and damages for annoyance and inconvenience.

The Circuit Court's rulings with regard to the consequences for this breach, and the relief which was ultimately granted to the KCBE, has in essence created new law, or at the very least, greatly expanded existing West Virginia law, and involves issues which are of first impression for this Court's consideration. Specifically, after determining that FFIC had breached its duty to defend

Skaff, the Circuit Court held that due to the breach, FFIC was estopped from raising any coverage defenses available under the policy issued to Multi-cap. The Court reasoned that once the insurance policy had been breached by FFIC (failure to defend Skaff), FFIC was thereafter precluded from relying upon provisions of the same policy to its benefit. In other words, the Circuit Court essentially found that the duty to defend and duty to indemnify were not separate duties.

In reaching this conclusion, the Circuit Court ignored the fact that this position has been rejected by the overwhelming majority of States which have addressed the issue. The Circuit Court also ignored the fact that this Court has not issued any decision which even remotely indicates that a breach of the duty to defend would impact an insurer's duty to indemnify, especially in light of the fact that this Court has repeatedly held that the duty to indemnify and duty to defend are separate duties and that estoppel is generally inoperable to extend insurance coverage beyond the terms of an insurance contract.

Similarly, or possibly in the alternative, the Circuit Court held that FFIC was bound by the default judgment entered against Skaff in the underlying civil action, thereby acting to collaterally estop FFIC from disputing coverage under the policy based upon grounds which challenged the facts and issues "decided" by the default judgment. However, in reaching this conclusion, the Circuit Court failed to analyze how collateral estoppel applied to prevent FFIC, who was not a party in the underlying action, from attacking a judgment entered against Skaff. More importantly, however, the Circuit Court failed to appreciate that the damages, as plead by the KCBE in its Complaint, arose from the breach of the Delegate Agreement. By entry of the default judgment, the Circuit Court determined that the KCBE was entitled to damages because of Multi-cap's failure to reimburse the KCBE pursuant to the terms of the Delegate Agreement. Therefore, the breach of contract exclusion

was not irrelevant as determined by the Circuit Court as it squarely excludes the damages plead by the KCBE and established by the default judgment.

FFIC filed a Motion for Relief pursuant to Rule 60(b), which was heard and denied by the Circuit Judge on February 7, 2005. In that motion, FFIC further demonstrated that the positions adopted by the Circuit Judge were contrary to existing West Virginia law, were contrary to the positions adopted by the majority of jurisdictions which had addressed similar, or identical, issues and acted as nothing more than a punishment to FFIC for failing to defend Skaff.

Subsequently, the Court issued a supplemental Opinion Order on February 22, 2005, which modified its November 18, 2004 *Final Order*, and held pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure that “there is no just reason for delay and that the plaintiff should be permitted to take a direct appeal” There are no remaining issues to be addressed with regard to the coverage issues which were presented to the Circuit Court and the Orders of November 18, 2004 and February 22, 2005 are final orders with regard to the declaratory judgment portion of this litigation.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS OF THE CASE

1. On or about May 19, 2000, FFIC issued a Non-Profit Organization Liability Insurance Policy, Policy CND 620-34-86, to Multi-cap. The policy was effective until May 19, 2001. While the policy was canceled in 2001, an endorsement was issued (CND-0019) which extended the period for reporting losses/bad acts until July 30, 2002; although, the alleged wrongful act had to have been committed prior to July 30, 2001. See FFIC Non-Profit Organization Liability Insurance Policy (CND 620-34-86), attached as Exhibit A to *Fireman's Fund Insurance Company's*

Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment.

2. Defendant Skaff was prior to, and at the time the policy was issued, the Executive Director of Multi-cap.²

3. In January 2000, the KCBE and Multi-cap entered into a contract, otherwise known as a Delegate Agreement, whereby the KCBE agreed to provide certain activities and services for the Head Start Program in Kanawha County for the period from June 1, 2000, through May 31, 2001. See Exhibit B attached to *Fireman's Fund Insurance Company's Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment*. The Head Start Program was financed under a grant from the United States Department of Health and Human Services. See Skaff Deposition, attached as Exhibit C to *Fireman's Fund Insurance Company's Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment* at p.19. In return for running the Head Start Program in Kanawha County, the contract required Multi-cap to reimburse the KCBE for their expenditures related to providing the services. The KCBE's expenses which required reimbursement included salaries, school supplies, maintenance on vehicles, insurance, retirement funding, site expenses, etc. *Id.* at p. 16-17.

4. According to the Amended Complaint, the KCBE performed all services required pursuant to the Delegate Agreement, but was not reimbursed by Multi-cap. Skaff reluctantly agreed that by failing to reimburse the KCBE that Multi-cap had breached the Delegate Agreement/contract. *Id.* at pp.54-55.

5. Multi-cap soon became the subject of several investigations on both a State and Federal level. During the civil and criminal investigations it was learned that Multi-cap had been

² Pursuant to an Employment Agreement, Skaff became the Executive Director on or about May 1, 1999.

engaging in what Skaff called “forward funding” whereby Multi-cap would use funds from the grant for Head Start for other purposes, or to reimburse prior year’s debts, and then planned to use other grant monies to reimburse the KCBE for running Head Start. *Id.* at pp.21-22. According to Skaff this practice had been going on since approximately 1993 and the Board of Directors of Multi-cap were aware of this practice. *Id.* at pp.23-26; See transcript of meeting of the Kanawha County Commission, May 22, 2001, at pp. 8-12, attached as Exhibit D to *Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company’s Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment*. Multi-cap’s troubles began to become known when the Head Start grant, or some other grant, was not approved for Multi-cap. When this source of funding did not become available, Multi-cap was unable to meet its obligations under the Delegate Agreement/contract and became insolvent.

6. As a result of the investigations, it was determined that not only was Multi-cap engaging in “forward funding”, but Skaff was using Multi-cap monies and resources for personal and unauthorized uses. He was indicted in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County during the January 2002 term on seven counts including: embezzlement, fraudulent schemes, forgery (two counts), uttering, credit card forgery and obtaining. He eventually entered guilty pleas with regard to the embezzlement and uttering counts. See Exhibit E attached to *Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company’s Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment*. Likewise, an Information was issued based upon the investigation completed by the United States Attorney’s Office which charged Skaff with the misapplication of federal monies to which he plead guilty. See Exhibit F attached to *Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company’s Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment*.

7. As a result of not being reimbursed for its expenses, the KCBE filed a complaint

against Multi-cap in June 2001 bearing civil action number 01-C-1708. Said complaint alleged that the KCBE was owed money by Multi-cap for the services it rendered pursuant to the Delegate Agreement. As such, the claim against Multi-cap was for breach of contract and sought to recover the expenses which were owed to it pursuant to the Delegate Agreement.

8. FFIC denied coverage for the allegations set forth in the complaint on July 2, 2001, in part, because the policy contains an exclusion for damages arising from breach of contract. No other activity took place with regard to civil action number 01-C-1708.

9. On July 25, 2002, a new Complaint was filed the KCBE bearing civil action number 02-C-1958. See Exhibit I attached to *Fireman's Fund Insurance Company's Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment*. This complaint named only Skaff as a Defendant asserting that due to his actions as the Executive Director of Multi-cap, Multi-cap was unable to reimburse the KCBE pursuant to the Delegate Agreement/contract. Specifically, the complaint asserts that Skaff:

- A. Drew down and used the federal funds that were intended solely for the Head Start Program, for other purposes;
- B. Failed to exercise control over and accountability for the federal funds that were intended solely for the Head Start Program;
- C. Improperly disbursed federal head Start funds out of the DHHS grant for the grant year beginning on June 1, 2000 to pay expenses for the prior program year which had ended on May 31, 2000;
- D. Failed to implement appropriate standards for financial management and reporting with regard to the federal funds that were intended solely for the Head Start Program;
- E. Failed to comply with applicable federal statutes and regulations related to the Head Start Program; and
- F. Was negligent, careless, reckless and/or grossly negligent in the handling of the federal funds that were intended solely for the Head Start Program.

Id. at ¶ 5.

10. Ultimately, however, the complaint against Skaff concludes that the KCBE suffered damages in the amount of \$710,974.85 as a result of Multi-cap's inability to reimburse the KCBE under the Delegate Agreement. Id. at ¶ 11. The damages asserted by the KCBE in the amount of \$710,974.85 represent the amount owed by Multi-cap to the KCBE pursuant to the Delegate Agreement. Id. at ¶ 4. Accordingly, the damages allegedly owed to the KCBE constitute the damages for Multi-cap's breach of the Delegate Agreement.

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