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

V. ARGUMENT

A. **The Circuit Court correctly concluded that Fireman's Fund had a duty to defend Paul Skaff, its insured, in Civil Action No. 02-C-1958.**

The Fireman's Fund policy provides coverage for "Wrongful Acts." This is the broadest type of coverage that a liability insurance policy can provide. There is no requirement of an "occurrence" or even an "offense" as defined by the policy. *See e.g. Tackett v. American Motorists Ins. Co.*, 213 W. Va. 524, 584 S.E.2d 158 (2003), discussing the application of such terms in "Coverage A" and "Coverage B" sections of a Commercial General Liability Policy. Instead, as defined by Fireman's Fund's own policy, coverage is provided for "any actual or alleged error, omission, misstatement or breach of duty committed by a Covered Person . . . while serving [Multi-Cap] in his or her capacity . . . "

The law on the duty to defend in West Virginia, consistent with the law across the country, requires that "[a]ny question concerning an insurer's duty to defend under an insurance policy must be construed liberally in favor of an insured where there is any question about an insurer's obligations." Syllabus Point 5, *Tackett*, supra (emphasis added). As this Court has stated, and the Circuit Court concluded, "[u]nder West Virginia law, '[a]n insurer must meet a rigorous standard to avoid its obligation to defend' *Butts v. Royal Vendors, Inc.*, 202 W. Va. 448, 451, 504 S.E.2d 911, 914 (1998)." **November 18, 2004 Order at Conclusion 14.** Additionally, "[w]here the policy

language involved is exclusionary, it will be strictly construed against the insurer in order that the purpose of providing indemnity not be defeated. Syllabus Point 5, National Mutual Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 177 W. Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987).”

November 18, 2004 Order at Conclusion 21. To implicate the duty to defend, there is no requirement that the facts alleged in the complaint specifically and unequivocally make out a claim within the coverage. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Pitrolo, 176 W. Va. 190, 194, 342 S.E.2d 156, 160 (1986).

Other fundamental principles of West Virginia insurance law are also pertinent. In Syllabus Point 3 of Polan v. Travelers Ins. Co., 156 W. Va. 250, 192 S.E.2d 481 (1972), the Court held that: “An insurance policy which requires construction must be construed liberally in favor of the insured.” In Syllabus Point 2 of Farmers Mutual Ins. Co. v. Tucker, 213 W. Va. 16, 576 S.E.2d 261 (2002) the Court held that: “When the words of an insurance policy are, without violence, susceptible of two or more interpretations, that which will sustain the claim and cover the loss must be adopted.” West Virginia law also requires that “if part of the claims against an insured fall within the coverage of a liability policy and part do not, the insurer must defend all of the claims, although it might eventually be required to pay only some of the claims.” Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. LEEBER, 180 W. Va. 375, 378, 376 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1988).

Against this backdrop of its own policy language and the law, Fireman’s Fund asks this Court to allow it to do what no West Virginia court – and no court anywhere – has ever allowed an insurer to do, to re-write the Board’s Complaint against Fireman’s Fund insured in a manner that better suits Fireman’s Fund’s purposes of attempting to avoid its obligations under the policy. Yet, even if Fireman’s Fund’s remarkable

attempts to do so could succeed, the insurer is still left with an allegation of “a breach of duty committed by a covered person” under its policy. Thus, Fireman’s Fund is left with no choice but to further argue that, contrary to every principle of insurance law, its own policy language should be broadly construed in its own favor to relieve the insurer of its obvious obligations under the policy.

The Circuit Court properly rejected these arguments. In reviewing the ruling of the court below, this Court must first bear in mind that this lawsuit was instituted against Paul Skaff, and only Paul Skaff. The Board’s only claims in its initial Complaint in this civil action were against Paul Skaff. Contrary to the insurer’s assertions in its brief, this case does not “arise from a contractual dispute” between the Board and Multi-Cap. This case arises from a claim by the Board that Paul Skaff breached duties owed to the Board and caused damage to the Board. Whether Fireman’s Fund likes it or not, any analysis done by the insurer, by the Circuit Court or by this Court must start and finish with that fundamental fact. The issue in this case is whether Paul Skaff is entitled to coverage under the Fireman’s Fund policy for the claims that were asserted by the Board against Paul Skaff.

The duty to defend under a liability policy is not dependent on the legal or factual validity of the plaintiff’s claims. It is solely dependent on whether the Complaint alleges an act or omission that is covered under the language of the policy. “The existence of the duty to defend depends solely on the nature of the claim asserted against the insured and has nothing to do with the merits of the claim.” U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. Green Bay Packaging, Inc., 66 F. Supp.2d 987, 995 (E.D. Wisc. 1999). This is so in this case because the insurance policy requires Fireman’s Fund to “defend any claim alleging

Wrongful Acts covered by [the] policy . . . even if the allegations are groundless, false or fraudulent.” *See also Pitrolo*, 176 W. Va. at 194, 342 S.E.2d at 160 (the generally recognized principle that the duty to defend is broader than the obligation to pay “ordinarily rises by virtue of language in the ordinary liability policy that obligates the insurer to defend even though the suit is groundless, false or fraudulent.”).²

A “Wrongful Act” under the policy is any “actual or alleged error, omission, misstatement or breach of duty committed by a Covered Person.” (Emphasis added.) Paul Skaff is a “Covered Person” under the policy. The Board’s Complaint alleges that Paul Skaff improperly drew down and used federal funds. That is an alleged error committed by a Covered Person. The Complaint alleges that Paul Skaff failed to exercise proper control and implement proper standards with regard to federal funds and failed to comply with federal statutes and rules. Those are alleged omissions committed by a

² Interestingly, Fireman’s Fund asserts in its brief that the Board “filed suit directly against Multi-Cap’s Executive Director . . . thereby attempting to avoid the breach of contract exclusion.” Appellant’s Brief at 1-2. While Fireman’s Fund has no knowledge of the reasons why the Board chose to sue Paul Skaff, this assertion does the insurer no benefit, because it still must defend Mr. Skaff even if it believes that the claims against him were “fraudulently asserted.”

Covered Person. The Complaint alleges that Paul Skaff was negligent in handling federal funds and breached fiduciary duties owed to the Board. Those are alleged breaches of duty committed by a Covered Person. Indeed, if these allegations are not allegations of “Wrongful Acts” as defined by the policy, one wonders what allegations Fireman’s Fund would require. More importantly, however, the Board’s Complaint does not allege that Paul Skaff was a party to any contract with the Board and does not allege that Paul Skaff breached any contract that he had with the Board of Education.

Fireman’s Fund’s repeated mantra in this appeal is that the Board’s Complaint fails to state a claim against Paul Skaff upon which relief can be granted. This argument has no bearing on the issue of coverage for Paul Skaff under the policy. Fireman’s Fund’s arguments that Skaff had no independent duty to the Board are arguments that may have been appropriately made on Skaff’s behalf in a motion to dismiss in the underlying claim, had Fireman’s Fund provided Skaff with a defense. But those arguments – even if correct – cannot and do not relieve Fireman’s Fund of its duty to defend in this case. An insurer may not unilaterally recast a plaintiff’s claims against its insured into terms that the insurer prefers, to avoid the duty to defend. *See Farmers Union Mutual Insurance Co. v. Staples*, 321 Mont. 99, 106, 90 P.3d 381, 385 (2004) (“The insurer is under a duty to construe the factual assertions from the perspective of the insured rather than solely from the insurer’s own perspective.”)

An insurer may not unilaterally determine the legal or factual merits of a plaintiff’s claims against its insured and conclude, as a result that the determination, that it need not defend its insured. As one court has observed, “[t]he allegations of the complaint, not the insurer’s belief as to the merits of the complaint, determine an

insurer's duty to defend." Premier Homes, Inc. v. Lawyers Title Ins. Corp., 76 F.Supp.2d 110, 115 (D. Mass. 1999).

Indeed, the duty to defend under a liability insurance policy is as important to an insured who has been wrongly accused of committing "wrongful acts," as it is to one who has clearly committed such acts. "Though policy coverage is often denominated as 'liability insurance', where the insurer has made promises to defend it is clear that [the coverage] is, in fact, 'litigation insurance' as well." Seaboard Surety Co. v. Gillette Co., 64 N.Y.2d 304, 310, 476 N.E.2d 272, 275, 486 N.Y.S.2d 873, 876 (1984). If Fireman's Fund believed that the Board's claims against Skaff lacked merit, the insurer's remedy – and indeed its contractual obligation – was to defend Skaff and seek to have those claims dismissed. In fact, as one court has noted, "[t]he nonliability of the insured is potentially the most effective bar to any policy claims against the insurer." Preferred America Insurance v. Dulceak, 302 Ill. App. 3d 990, 996, 706 N.E.2d 529, 533, 235 Ill Dec. 974, 978 (1999).

In discussing the duty to defend, the Seventh Circuit has also observed that:

Especially since the advent of notice pleading, in a case where there is doubt as to whether a theory of recovery within the policy coverage has been pleaded in the underlying complaint, the insurer must defend, and its defense obligations will continue until such time as the claim against the insured is confined to a recovery that the policy does not cover.... To hold otherwise would be to place upon the insured the burden of demonstrating in advance of the underlying litigation which of the competing theories of recovery against it was applicable for purposes of insurance, thereby frustrating one of the basic purposes of such a clause in the insurance contract, protection of the insured from the expenses of litigation.

Solo Cup Co. v. Federal Ins. Co., 619 F.2d 1178, 1185 (7th Cir.), *cert denied* 449 U.S. 1033 (1980), citations omitted, emphasis added. *See also* State of Idaho v. Bunker Hill Company, 647 F.Supp. 1064, 1068 (D. Idaho 1986) (“[S]ince the advent of notice pleading there will likely be broad ambiguous claims made against the insured making it more difficult for the insurer to determine whether the insurance policy covers the claims. But ..., where there is doubt as to whether a theory of recovery within the policy coverage has been pleaded in the underlying complaint, or which is potentially included in the underlying complaint, the insurer must defend regardless of potential defenses arising under the policy or potential defenses arising under the substantive law under which the claim is brought against the insured.” Emphasis added.); Gibson v. Farm Family Mut. Ins. Co., 673 A.2d 1350, 1352 (Me. 1996) (“If the allegations in the underlying tort action are within the risk insured against and there is *any potential basis* for recovery, the insurer must defend the insured regardless of the actual facts of which the insured’s ultimate liability may be based. . . . An insured is not at the mercy of the notice pleading of the third party suing him to establish his own insurer’s duty to defend.” Emphasis in original); Cunningham v. Universal Underwriters, 98 Cal. App. 4th 1141, 1148, 120 Cal.Rptr.2d 162, 167 (2002) (“In a duty to defend case, an insurer moving for summary judgment must establish *the absence of any . . . potential* for coverage, i.e., that the underlying complaint *can by no conceivable theory raise a single issue which could bring it within the policy coverage*. . . . In contrast, to prevail on its summary judgment motion, the insured need only show the existence of a *potential for coverage*, i.e., that the underlying claim *may* fall within policy coverage.” Emphasis in original, citations omitted); McCormack Baron Management Services, Inc. v. American Guarantee &

Liability Ins. Co., 989 S.W.2d 168, 170-71 (Mo. 1999) (“The duty to defend arises whenever there is a potential or possible liability to pay based on the fact at the outset of the case and is not dependant on the probable liability to pay based on the facts ascertained through trial. . . . The duty to defend is determined comparing the language of the insurance policy with the allegations in the complaint. If the complaint merely alleged facts that give rise to a claim potentially within the policy’s coverage, the insurer has duty to defend.”); Wentland v. American Equity Ins. Co., 267 Conn. 592, 600, 840 A.2d 1158, 1163 (2004) (“It is beyond dispute that an insurer's duty to defend, being much broader in scope and application than its duty to indemnify, is determined by reference to the allegations contained in the complaint.... The obligation of the insurer to defend does not depend on whether the injured party will successfully maintain a cause of action against the insured but on whether he has, in his complaint, stated facts [that] bring the injury within the coverage.... If an allegation of the complaint falls even possibly within the coverage, then the [insurer] must defend the insured.... Accordingly, an insurer's duty to defend its insured is triggered without regard to the merits of its duty to indemnify.”); Hugo Boss Fashions, Inc. v. Federal Ins. Co., 252 F.3d 608, 620 (2nd Cir. 2001) (“[A] separate, contractual duty to defend exists, and perdures until it is determined *with certainty* that the policy does not provide coverage.” Emphasis in original).

Yet, even if Fireman’s Fund is correct in its assertion that the Board’s claims against Mr. Skaff were really claims for breach of contract, Fireman’s Fund is still wrong in asserting that it had no duty to defend Paul Skaff.. The Circuit Court properly concluded that:

Even if the claims asserted by the Board of Education against Skaff were deemed to be claims for “Breach of Contract” as

defined in the exclusion contained in Section II.B of the policy, the claims would still constitute “Wrongful Acts” as defined in the policy. Because the exclusionary language contained in Section II.B of the policy applies specifically to “damages” alone and not to “claims”, the exclusion cannot be relied upon by Fireman’s Fund to justify the insurer’s refusal to defend its insured.

November 18, 2004 Order at Conclusion 29.

Section II of the Firemen's Fund policy is titled “Exclusions –What We Do Not Cover.” It contains nine separate exclusions. Seven of exclusions state, “We do not cover **Claims** . . .” of various types. (Emphasis in original.) The exclusion in Section II.C., for example, provides that the policy does not cover “claims” that result from or arise out of any bodily injury.

The “Breach of Contract” exclusion in Section II.B of the policy – the sole exclusion on which Fireman’s Fund bases its arguments in this petition for appeal – does not state that the insurer does not cover “Claims” that result from or arise out of any actual or alleged breach of contract. It is one of two exclusions that limit the policy’s coverages of “Damages” arising from a breach of contract.

Fireman’s Fund’s arguments that it has no duty to defend a breach of contract claim are nonsensical and simply ignore substantial portions of its own policy language. What purposes would be served by using the limitation on “Claims” in seven of the nine exclusions and the limitation on “Damages” in the other two, if the exclusions were to be applied identically? Fireman’s Fund correctly points at that West Virginia insurance law require a court to “construe all parts of the document together” (citing Payne v. Weston, 195 W. Va. 502, 507, 466 S.E.2d 161 166 (1995)), yet Fireman’s Fund’s argument would

require the Court to ignore substantial provisions of the insurance policy and re-write the definitions contained in the insurer's own policy.

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